IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
Plaintiff-Appellee,))
v.	S.CT. NO. 17-1901
KENNETH L. LILLY,	
Defendant-Appellant.	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR LEE COUNTY HONORABLE MARY ANN BROWN, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH State Appellate Defender

SHELLIE L. KNIPFER
Assistant Appellate Defender
sknipfer@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u> : <u>Page</u> :
Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979)34, 36
Everett v. State, 789 N.W.151 (Iowa 2010)
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970)
State ex rel. Buechler v. Vinsand, 318 N.W.2d 208 (Iowa 1982)
State v. Barnes, 204 N.W.2d 827 (Iowa 1972) 52
State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164 (Iowa 2011) 61-62
State v. Buck, 510 N.W.2d 850 (Iowa 1994)
State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa 1976)49, 63
State v. Harris, 891 N.W.2d 182 (Iowa 2017)
State v. Hearn, 797 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 2011)51, 52
State v. Henderson, N.W.2d (Iowa 2018) 62-67, 69
State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374 (Iowa 1989)
State v. Jones, 490 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 1992) 38-40, 42
State v. Jorgensen, 758 N.W.2d 830 (Iowa 2009) 48
State v. Kellogg, 263 N.W.2d 539 (Iowa 1978)
State v. Kone, 557 N.W.2d 97 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996) 84

State v. Long, 628 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 2001)
State v. McCullah, 787 N.W.2d 90 (Iowa 2010) 48-49, 62-63
State v. McCurry, 544 N.W.2d 444 (Iowa 1996)
State v. Musser, 721 N.W.2d 734 (Iowa 2006) 82
State v. Neiderback, 837 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 2013) 66
State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)
State v. Ramirez, 616 N.W.2d 587 (Iowa 2000) 51
State v. Reeves, 636 N.W.2d 22 (Iowa 2001) 51-52
State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2012) 48
State v. Satern, 516 N.W.2d 839 (Iowa 1994)
State v. Schlitter, 881 N.W.2d 380 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Shorter, 893 N.W.2d 65 (Iowa 2017) 52
State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37 (Iowa 1997)
State v. Tompkins, 859 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 2015)
State v. Torres, 495 N.W.2d 678 (Iowa 1993) 48-49, 63
State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2004) 61
Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S.Ct. 824, 13 L.Ed.2d 759 (1965)
Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522 (1975)

United States v. Armstrong, 621 F.2d 951 (9th Cir. 1980) 39
United States v. Clifford, 640 F.2d 150 (8th Cir.1981) 39
United States v. Hernandez-Estrada, 749 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 2014)
United States v. Kleifgen, 557 F.2d 1293 (9th Cir.1977) 39
United States v. Sanchez, 156 F.3d 875 (8th Cir. 1998) 40
United States v. Sanchez-Lopez, 879 F.2d 541 (9th Cir.1989)
United States v. Whitley, 491 F.2d 1248 (8th Cir.1974) 39
Constitutional Provisions:
U.S. Const. amend. VI
Iowa Const. Art. I, sec. 10
Statutes and Court Rules:
Iowa Code § 607A.2
Iowa Code § 607A.22(1) (2017)
Iowa Code § 607A.22(2) (2017)30, 33
Iowa Code § 711.2 (2015)
Iowa R. App. 6.907
Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c)
Iowa R. Evid. 5.802

Iowa R. Evid. 803(6)
Other Authorities:
Recommendations of the Committee on Jury Selection
(March 2018), p. 10 https://www.iowacourts.gov/collections/41/files/499/embed
<u>Document/</u> 32, 46-47
Shamena Anwar, et al., The Impact of Jury Race in Criminal Trials, 127 Q.J. Econ. 1017 (2012)
Thomas M. Fleming, Age Group Underrepresentation in Grand Jury or Petit Jury Venire, 62 A.L.R. 4th 859 (1988) 36

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE'S PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER LILLY'S ALL WHITE JURY POOL WAS A FAIR CROSS-SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY, AND THEREFORE, A DENIAL OF HIS RIGHT TO AN UNBIASED JURY UNDER THE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONS?

Authorities

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 810 (Iowa 2017)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

Iowa Const. Art. I, sec. 10

Iowa Code § 607A.22(2) (2017)

Shamena Anwar, et al., <u>The Impact of Jury Race in Criminal Trials</u>, 127 Q.J. Econ. 1017, 1027–28, 1032 (2012)

Recommendations of the Committee on Jury Selection (March 2018), p. 10

https://www.iowacourts.gov/collections/41/files/499/embed Document/

Iowa Code § 607A.22(1) (2017)

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 364, 367-68 (1979)

Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 530 (1975)

Thomas M. Fleming, Age Group Underrepresentation in Grand Jury or Petit Jury Venire, 62 A.L.R. 4th 859, 967 (1988)

Iowa Code § 607A.2

United States v. Hernandez-Estrada, 749 F.3d 1154, 1160

(9th Cir. 2014)

State v. Jones, 490 N.W.2d 787, 793 (Iowa 1992)

Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 208-09, 85 S.Ct. 824, 829, 13 L.Ed.2d 759, 766 (1965)

United States v. Clifford, 640 F.2d 150, 155 (8th Cir.1981)

United States v. Sanchez-Lopez, 879 F.2d 541, 547-49 (9th Cir. 1989)

United States v. Armstrong, 621 F.2d 951, 956 (9th Cir. 1980)

United States v. Kleifgen, 557 F.2d 1293, 1297 (9th Cir.1977)

United States v. Whitley, 491 F.2d 1248, 1249 (8th Cir.1974)

United States v. Sanchez, 156 F.3d 875, 879 n.4 (8th Cir. 1998)

II. WHETHER THE STATE'S EVIDENCE FAILED TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT LILLY AIDED AND ABETTED LAFAYETTE EVANS IN ROBBING THE BANK?

Authorities

Iowa R. App. 6.907

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Torres, 495 N.W.2d 678, 681 (Iowa 1993)

State v. McCullah, 787 N.W.2d 90, 93 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Jorgensen, 758 N.W.2d 830, 834 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 1075, 25 L.Ed.2d 368, 375 (1970)

State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Hearn, 797 N.W.2d 577, 580 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Ramirez, 616 N.W.2d 587, 591–92 (Iowa 2000), overruled on other grounds by State v. Reeves, 636 N.W.2d 22, 25–26 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Shorter, 893 N.W.2d 65, 74-75 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Barnes, 204 N.W.2d 827, 828 (Iowa 1972)

III. WHETHER THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE ROBBERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE BECAUSE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE LILLY KNEW A DANGEROUS WEAPON WOULD BE USED IN THE ROBBERY? WAS LILLY DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR NOT MOVING FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL ON THE ROBBERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE CHARGE?

Authorities

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 170 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Harris, 891 N.W.2d 182, 185 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Henderson, ___ N.W.2d ___, __ (Iowa 2018)

State v. Schlitter, 881 N.W.2d 380, 390 (Iowa 2016)

State v. McCullah, 787 N.W.2d 90, 93 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 1075, 25 L.Ed.2d 368, 375 (1970)

State v. Neiderback, 837 N.W.2d 180, 211 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Satern, 516 N.W.2d 839, 843 (Iowa 1994)

Iowa Code § 711.2 (2015)

IV. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO AVOID HEARSAY ISSUES AND TO PROPERLY PRESENT DESIRED TESTIMONY FROM THE DECLARANT OR THE RECORD KEEPER DENIED LILLY THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL?

Authorities

State v. Kellogg, 263 N.W.2d 539, 543 (Iowa 1978)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 378 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Buck, 510 N.W.2d 850, 853 (Iowa 1994)

Everett v. State, 789 N.W.151, 158 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802

State v. Tompkins, 859 N.W.2d 631, 643 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 812-13 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Musser, 721 N.W.2d 734, 751 (Iowa 2006)

State v. McCurry, 544 N.W.2d 444, 446 (Iowa 1996)

State ex rel. Buechler v. Vinsand, 318 N.W.2d 208, 210 (Iowa 1982)

Iowa R. Evid. 803(6)

State v. Kone, 557 N.W.2d 97, 102 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)

State v. Long, 628 N.W.2d 440, 447 (Iowa 2001)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because one issue raised involves a case presenting fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring prompt and ultimate determination by the supreme court. Also, this case presents a substantial question that requires the enunciation of changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(d), (f).

This court in State v. Plain addressed the question of a person's Sixth Amendment right to an impartial jury. 898

N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017). The court did not address whether the Iowa constitutional right to an impartial jury protection is the equivalent to the federal right. Id. at 821 n.6. See Iowa Const. Art. I, sec. 10. Plain set forth a three-part test to determine whether the accused has established a prima facie violation of the fair-cross section of the community requirement. To establish the second prong, the accused must show the proportion of group members in the jury pool is underrepresentive of the proportion of the group members in

the community. This court held that multiple statistical analyses could be used that are appropriate to the circumstances of each case. <u>Id.</u> at 826-27. However, the court does not answer the question of how to utilize the three statistical tests – particularly in minority populations that are extremely small in the community.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by the Defendant-Appellant, Kenneth L. Lilly, from the judgment and sentence following appellant's conviction for the offense aiding and abetting a robbery in the first degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 711.1(a), 711.2 (2015). The Honorable Mary Ann Brown presided at trial and sentencing in Lee County District Court.

Course of Proceedings in the District Court: On November 4, 2016, Lilly was charged by trial information with the offense robbery in the first degree, aiding and abetting, in violation of Iowa Code sections 711.1(a) and 711.2. (Trial Information, 11/4/2016)(App. pp. 5-6).

Prior to trial Lilly moved to dismiss the jury pool for failing to have any African-Americans. (Challenge to Jury Pool, 9/14/17; 9/22/17 transcript)(App. pp. 7-12). The district court denied his motion. (Order Denying Defendant's Challenge to Jury Pool, 9/25/17)(App. pp. 24-32). Lilly renewed his motion at the beginning of jury selection and it was denied. (Vol.1 p.7 L.2-20).

A jury trial commenced September 26, 2017. Following the State's case-in-chief, Lilly moved for judgment of acquittal arguing the State failed to prove Lilly aided and abetted Evans in the robbery because it failed to prove identity of Lilly as the driver or that Lilly knew of, approved of, and actively participated in the robbery. (Vol.3 p.54 L.1-13). The district court denied the motion. (Vol.3 p.55 L.22-p.56 L.11). Lilly renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the evidence and the district court again denied the motion. (Vol.3 p.160 L.17-p.161 L.4). The jury found Lilly guilty of robbery in the first degree. (Order RE: Presentence Investigation, 9/29/17)(App. pp. 40-42).

Lilly filed a handwritten motion for mistrial challenging his conviction on the grounds of (1) ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to present exculpatory evidence, (2) juror misconduct, and (3) prosecutorial misconduct for failing to turn over exculpatory evidence. (Pro se Motion for Mistrial, 11/9/17; Sent. tr. p.4 L.15-p.10 L.6)(App. pp. 43-44). The district court treated the motion as a motion for new trial and denied the motion. (Order Denying Defendant's Motion Pro Se Motion for New Trial, 11/22/17)(App. pp. 45-47).

On November 22, 2017, Lilly appeared in open court, with counsel, and was adjudged guilty of robbery in the first degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 711.1(a) and 711.2. (Judgment Entry, ¶1, 11/22/17)(App. p. 48). Lilly was sentenced to 25 years with a 17 ½ years mandatory. (Judgment Entry, ¶2)(App. p. 48).

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (Notice, 11/22/17) (App. p. 51).

Facts: On June 29, 2016, just after 10:20 a.m., Lafayette Evans was fatally shot by law enforcement after he robbed Ft.

Madison Bank and Trust¹ and fled. (Vol.2 p.6 L.3-p.31 L.19, p.52 L.14-p.53 L.15, p.94 L.13-p.97 L.1; Ex. 17 (diagram)). When Evans attempted to leave the bank he realized law enforcement was already on the scene, so he fled through the back door and fired his handgun at law enforcement. (Vol.2 p.31 L.9-p.33 L.14).

Law enforcement was notified of the robbery by Joseph Hardin who, as he was about to go through the drive-through, saw a man with long sleeves get out of a "light" SUV/van which was blocking Hardin's way. (Vol.1 p.218 L.4-p.219 L.6, p.220 L.3-9). The man also had a red and black "thing...that he pulled down...over his face." (Vol.2 p.220 L.12-25). The vehicle moved and Hardin proceeded to the drive-through. (Vol.1 p.219 L.21-24). As Hardin was driving up to the window he heard a gunshot. (Vol.1 221 L.21-p.222 L.2). When he reached the window he was waived on by clerk Kathleen Boddeker. (Vol.1 p.222 L.13-p.223 L.5). Hardin could see a

¹ At the time of trial the bank had changed its name to Connection Bank. (Vol.2 p.3 L.17-25).

man with the red and black hood and, realizing the bank was being robbed, called 911. (Vol.1 p.223 L.6-18).

Even though the vehicle was blocking his way to the drive-through window, Hardin remembered little about the vehicle. When interviewed on June 29th immediately after the robbery, Hardin described the vehicle as "light-colored." (Vol.1 p.230 L.23-p.231 L.9). But he did not remember anything else about the vehicle. (Vol.1 p.231 L.10-p.232 L.1). Nor could Hardin remember anything about the driver of the vehicle. (Vol.1 p.233 L.7-23).

Kelly Bergman testified that on June 29th, around 10:08 a.m., she was attempting to turn left out of the drive-through when she got blocked by an older Suburban/Bronco type of vehicle. (Vol.1 p.248 L.10-p.249 L.16, p.252 L.19-p.253 L.2). Bergman testified it was "a two-toned vehicle, a dark color and like a silver, light and dark." (Vol.1 p.249 L.17-19). Bergman noticed there was a black fan clipped to the rearview mirror. (Vol.1 p.249 L.20-24). She testified the driver was "a large black man who kind of filled the seat [and] had sunglasses on."

(Vol.1 p.250 L.3-5). Bergman testified that she watched the younger, smaller passenger exit the vehicle. (Vol.1 p.250 L.5-6). She described the passenger as wearing a short-sleeved white t-shirt, had something red around his neck, and carrying a dark-colored cinch bag. (Vol.1 p.250 L.7-20, p.259 L.20-p.260 L.1). After the passenger got out, the vehicle drove off. (Vol.1 p.251 L.16-p.252 L.9). Bergman could not remember seeing the make of the vehicle, the license plate, or any rust on the vehicle. (Vol.1 p.259 L.5-19).

Ft. Madison Patrolman Brent Gibbs arrived on the scene to observe officers Doyle and Brown slowly approaching a man lying face-down. (Vol.2 p.53 L.5-16). Gibbs removed from Evans' pocket a handheld CB radio, signifying to officers that someone else might be involved. (Vol.2 p.54 L.13-18).

DCI Special Agent Ryan Herman was called to assist the investigation of the two officer involved shootings. (Vol.2 p.85 L.6-14). At the scene was found the hand held radio ("walkie-talkie"), a handgun, a red snowmobile mask, sunglasses, and a Chicago Cubs bag filled with money. (Vol.2

p.86 L.2-21, p.88 L.7-24). The gun was traced to Carlos Pickett, Jr., in Birmingham, Alabama. (Vol.2 p.105 L.10-19). Special Agent Joseph Lestina went to the hospital where Evans was taken. Lestina noticed Evans had latex gloves on his hands and on his left hand was electrical tape covering tattoos on his knuckles. (Vol.2 p.162 L.1-25).

It was eventually discovered that Evans' mother sent a money order for Evans to Amber Sawyer's address: 2005

Avenue E. (Vol.2 p.97 L.5-8, p.99 L.15-17, p.168 L.1-2, p.199 L.25-p.200 L.15). Sawyer is Lilly's fiancé and father of her children, Kenden and Maliqu.² (Vol.2 p.97 L.5-10, p.168 L.9-23, p.188 L.1-9). Officers also discovered that there was a suburban associated with Sawyer's address. (Vol.2 p.97 L.13-17).

Evans was married to Latrice Lilly [hereinafter "Latrice"] who was Lilly's niece. (Vol.2 p.172 L.15-3). Latrice was in federal prison for bank robbery. (Vol.2 p.173 L.23-p.174 L.4).

² At the time of trial Kenden was ten and Maliqu was six. (Vol.2 p.188 L.4-6).

Around June 13, 2016, Evans asked to come to Ft. Madison and stay with Lilly and Sawyer. (Vol.2 p.173 L.10-13; Vol.3 p.101 L.1-12). Evans arrived on a bus and Lilly picked him up at the gas station. (Vol.3 p.101 L.13-p.102 L.6). Sawyer testified that Evans said he needed to get away and clear his mind. (Vol.2 p.173 L.14-22). Sawyer testified that Evans told her he was depressed about his wife Latrice being in federal prison and about his general situation in Alabama. (Vol.2 p.173 L.10-20, p.192 L.18-p.193 L.16). Lilly testified Evans was suicidal. (Vol.3 p.128 L.11-12). Lilly would find Evans up in the middle of the night crying. (Vol.3 p.104 L.7-19). Evans told Lilly he was upset about Latrice and he was in trouble with some people such that he was afraid to return to Alabama. (Vol.3 p.104 L.22-p.105 L.2, p.128 L.3-10).

Sawyer testified that on June 26th she, Lilly, Evans, and her children drove to Illinois to make funeral arrangements for a friend. (Vol.2 p.175 L.17-22). They all returned the next day, June 27th. (Vol.2 p.176 L.5-13). Evans left after they returned. (Vol.2 p.177 L.14-22). Lilly testified that Evans left

on June 28th because he had plans to go to Rockford. (Vol.3 p.110 L.10-16). He said Evans left around 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. and told Lilly he was going to see his friends before the bus left at 9:00 a.m. (Vol.3 p.111 L.6-17). The next day was the bank robbery.

Lilly and his children went to Rockford on June 29 and returned to Ft. Madison July 7th. (Vol.3 p.114 L.14-22).

Brian Lilly [hereinafter "Billy"] confirmed Lilly came to Rockford sometime before July 4th to help put a battery cord on a Camaro. (Vol.3 p.74 L.1-17). Lilly testified he found out about Evans' death from a family member. (Vol.3 p.117 L.7-p.119 L.14; Ex. Q (text message)).

Officers executed a search warrant on July 7th when they observed his suburban outside of Sawyer and Lilly's residence. (Vol.2 p.98 L.2-19). A search was conducted on his home, suburban, and an S10 pickup. (Vol.2 p.99 L.4-24). In the suburban was a CB radio. (Vol.2 p.100 L.25-p.101 L.15). Hanging from the review mirror was black fan. (Vol.2 p.101 L.18-20). The handheld radio found on Evans was later

determined to be on Channel 14. (Vol.2 p.220 L.13-23).

Lilly's CB radio was defaulted to Channel 0 or 1 when it was turned off. (Vol.2 p.220 L.23-25).

Law enforcement was unable to find any of Evans' belongings in Lilly's residence. (Vol.2 p.102 L.3-7, p.133 L.14-18).

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