IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 17-1901

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

KENNETH L. LILLY,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR NORTH LEE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MARY ANN BROWN, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

CLINTON BODDICKER
Lee County Attorney

ANDREW PROSSER
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

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

United States v. Rogers, 73 F.3d 774, 776 (8th Cir. 1996); *but see United States v. Johnson*, 973 F.Supp. 1111, 1116 n.11 (D. Neb. 1997) (noting *Rogers* lacks authority as precedent). But when the petitioner in *Berghuis* made a similar claim about language from *Duren*, the Court rejected any suggestion that “the burden of proving causation [was] on the State” when it resisted claims of systematic exclusion. *See Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 332–33. *Berghuis* reaffirmed that claimants have “the burden of proving that the underrepresentation ‘was due to [group members’] systematic exclusion in the jury-selection process.” *Id.* at 332 (quoting *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 366). The law is clear: Lilly has the burden of proving systematic exclusion, and statistics showing a persistent disparity are not enough—he must show causation as well, and his causation theory must establish the *government* is responsible for systematically excluding African-Americans from jury service.

Thus, even if Lilly’s data was helpful, it would not be enough because it would not show that exclusion is “inherent in the particular jury-selection process utilized.” *Fetters*, 562 N.W.2d at 777 (quoting *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 366). While historical data is sometimes useful to demonstrate a persistent disparity, it can never be enough to prove systematic exclusion is inherent in a race-blind/race-neutral process—

Lilly needed to show a causal link between the procedures used to generate jury pools and the relevant/observable disparity. Even when statistically significant disparities emerge in aggregated jury pool data, “[d]iscrepancies resulting from the private choices of potential jurors” do not prove systematic exclusion—and Lilly has failed to foreclose or undermine that explanation. *See Orange*, 447 F.3d at 799–800.

3. *Lilly’s causation theory on systematic exclusion has already been rejected in Iowa and elsewhere.*

Lilly’s only argument alleging any cause of systematic exclusion attacks the source lists for potential jurors. *See* Def’s Br. at 46–47.

Iowa caselaw recognizes “[t]he use of only the voter registration list and a motor vehicle operator’s list” does not systematic exclude African-Americans from the jury selection process. *See Huffaker*, 493 N.W.2d at 834; *see also Thongvanh v. State*, 494 N.W.2d 679, 683–84 (Iowa 1993). Indeed, *Plain* did not overrule the holding from *Jones* that attacking those source lists, without more, would not establish “a systematic exclusion of African-Americans in the jury selection process.” *See Jones*, 490 N.W.2d at 793–94; *see also State v. Miles*, 490 N.W.2d 798, 798 (Iowa 1992) (observing that *Jones* identified “no constitutional or statutory violation in compiling jury pools”). Pointing to these source lists does not establish systematic exclusion.

Other courts generally agree. *See Ramseur*, 983 F.2d at 1233; *United States v. Warren*, 16 F.3d 247, 251–52 (8th Cir. 1994); *People v. Henriquez*, 406 P.3d 748, 763 (Cal. 2017); *State v. Jackson*, 836 N.E.2d 1173, 1192–93 (Ohio 2005); *cf. United States v. Cecil*, 836 F.2d 1431, 1447–48 (4th Cir. 1988) (collecting cases).

The State Court Administrator’s office is the entity that has “control over what source lists are used to compile a master jury list.” RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE COMMITTEE ON JURY SELECTION (Mar. 2018), at 10 [hereinafter RECOMMENDATIONS]. Lilly argues that Lee County was systematically excluding minority segments of the population from jury service by failing to replace those SCA-supplied juror lists with lists from another source, “such as income tax filers and persons receiving unemployment compensation.” *See* Def’s Br. at 46–47. But there is no indication that would fix an underrepresentation problem, unless observed underrepresentation is mostly due to undeliverable jury summons. *See* RECOMMENDATIONS, at *10 (“Although not always yielding significant increases in the overall number of eligible jurors, income tax and unemployment lists have been shown to contain more accurate juror addresses.”). The risks of unilateral action to replace the SCA-supplied juror lists far outweigh any potential benefits—if

the substitute lists are challenged as underinclusive, non-random, or otherwise defective, then every case tried before a jury populated with names drawn from that list would be infected with fatal error. *See, e.g., United States v. Ovalle*, 136 F.3d 1092, 1104–09 (6th Cir. 1998).

Certainly, this Court can take supervisory action in accordance with recommendations laid out in the task force report—some of its recommendations offer fresh solutions to stubborn problems. But that does not mean failure to predict/adopt any specific recommendation establishes systematic exclusion or renders this trial unconstitutional. In rejecting a similar challenge, the Minnesota Supreme Court stated:

While the evidence fails to establish systematic exclusion, the evidence—both anecdotal and statistical—indicates that there is some underrepresentation in fact. That the underrepresentation is not the result of systematic exclusion does not justify complacency or satisfaction with the inclusiveness of the system. That the United States Constitution and the Minnesota Constitution require only that underrepresentation not be the result of systematic exclusion does not mean that the system of selection is perfect. We intend to use our supervisory power over the trial courts to insure that the systems used are increasingly inclusive in the hope that the faces of the people in the jury room will soon mirror the faces of the people in the community at large.

Williams, 525 N.W.2d at 544. This Court should strive for diversity and inclusion, but it should also recognize that *nothing* in this case bears any resemblance to unconstitutional systematic exclusion.

“[E]thnic and racial disparities between the general population and jury pools do not by themselves invalidate the use of [source] lists and cannot establish the systematic exclusion of allegedly under-represented groups.” *United States v. Rodriguez*, 581 F.3d 775, 790 (8th Cir. 2009) (quoting *United States v. Morin*, 338 F.3d 838, 844 (8th Cir. 2003)). Lilly’s aggregated data is plagued with gaps—but even if it were not, it would not be independently sufficient to prove systematic exclusion was somehow inherent in the selection process. Use of these neutral source lists cannot establish systematic exclusion. Therefore, Lilly’s fair-cross-section claim fails.

C. The Duke study cited in *Plain* does not say what *Plain* says that it says.

This does not fit into the fair cross-section framework, but Lilly block-quotes *Plain*’s discussion of one particular study to support his claim that minority defendants “cannot get a fair trial before Iowa’s white juries.” See Def’s Br. at 31 (citing *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 825–26). *Plain* described a study showing “that having just one person of color on an otherwise all-white jury can reduce disparate rates of convictions between black and white defendants.” *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 825–26. That description misstates the study’s findings—and its *real* findings are interesting in light of Lilly’s claim that he did not receive a fair trial.

See Shamena Anwar et al., *The Impact of Jury Race in Criminal Trials*, 127 Q.J. ECON. 1017 (2012). This study, like all research, is not perfect; its authors also used the same data set to demonstrate similar effects on conviction rates based on average *age* of seated jurors (which they did not control for in their race-focused study). See Shamena Anwar et al., *The Role of Age in Jury Selection and Trial Outcomes*, NAT. BUREAU ECON. RES. (2012), <http://www.nber.org/papers/w17887.pdf>. More importantly for this discussion: note that Anwar’s team found that racial disparities in conviction rates disappeared when the jury panel contained at least one African-American, “*regardless of whether they are actually seated on the trial jury.*” See Anwar et al., *The Impact of Jury Race*, 127 Q.J. ECON. at 1035. Somehow, *all* jurors deliberate and render verdicts differently if the panel includes an African-American, even if the petit jury does not. Anwar suggests that African-Americans may be struck for being defense-friendly and “replaced on the jury by white jurors with similar attitudes towards the case”—in theory, the presence of an African-American on the jury panel would be similar to having an additional pro-defendant Caucasian. See *id.* at 1041–45. But African-American potential jurors were *more* likely to be seated; they were not being struck at disproportionate rates or intercepting

strikes intended for potential jurors who “lean defendant.” *See id.* at 1029–30. If African-Americans clustered at the “lean defendant” end of the “juror disposition” distribution Anwar describes, they would draw strikes from prosecutors at higher rates—and they would surely impact conviction rates more sharply when *seated* than when merely *summoned* for jury service. Whatever causes the effect Anwar found must be happening whenever an African-American is on a jury panel, regardless of whether he/she is seated, struck, or simply not selected. *Id.* at 1046 (“Strikingly, the coefficients that characterize the black–white conviction rate gap when there is at least one black member seated on the jury are almost exactly the same size as the estimated impact of having at least one black potential juror in the pool.”).

Anwar reluctantly acknowledges another possibility: “The presence of black jurors in the pool might also affect trial outcomes indirectly if pretrial interactions among members of the jury pool alter the attitudes of the white jurors who are ultimately seated.” *See id.* at 1041 n.31. There seems to be no other plausible explanation for the impact that a single African-American person on the jury panel has on the subsequent deliberations of an all-white jury—*exposure* to diverse voices in voir dire must be defraying some implicit prejudice.

This aligns with contemporary academic research on the topic. *See, e.g.,* Jennifer S. Hunt, *Race, Ethnicity, and Culture in Jury Decision Making*, 11 ANN. REV. L. & SOC. SCI. 269, 273–74 (2015) (summarizing research showing that “most individuals believe that it is important to be egalitarian, so they try to avoid bias when they are aware of the potential influence of race”); Jerry Kang et al., *Implicit Bias in the Courtroom*, 59 UCLA L. REV. 1124, 1143 (2012) (“When the case is racially charged, jurors—who want to be fair—respond by being more careful and thoughtful about race and their own assumptions and thus do not show bias in their deliberations and outcomes.”); Samuel R. Sommers & Phoebe C. Ellsworth, *White Juror Bias*, 7 PSYCHOL. PUB. POL’Y & L. 201, 220–25 (2001) (reporting findings that “[w]hen race was made salient in the experimental trial, Whites demonstrated no signs of discrimination, apparently because the racial content of the trial activated a motivation to appear nonprejudiced”). Theoretically, even when fluctuations in random sampling produce an all-white panel, it should be possible to simulate Anwar’s outcome-equalizing effect of racial diversity on the jury panel by prompting a thoughtful discussion of racial issues. *See* Sommers & Ellsworth, 7 PSYCHOL. PUB. POL’Y & L. at 221 (noting “[e]mpirical evidence suggests that even expectations

surrounding the racial composition of a jury are sufficient to influence jurors' predeliberation decisions," and that "asking potential jurors about their beliefs regarding the fairness of the criminal justice system or the pervasiveness of racism in society at large may also make race more salient" and neutralize the impact of implicit bias on outcomes).

This was worth discussing because Lilly's trial counsel explored racial issues with the jury during voir dire. *See* TrialTr.V1 p.158,ln.18–TrialTr.V1 p.173,ln.5. He asked the panel to consider the fact that "we have no black potential juror in this pool." TrialTr.V1 p.158,ln.21–24. He solicited the panel's opinions on racism in contemporary America, and he confirmed that "everyone agrees racism exists." *See* TrialTr.V1 p.158,ln.25–p.163,ln.1. And he explained and explored the concept of implicit bias, and elicited agreement from potential jurors that biases should not affect their verdict. *See* TrialTr.V1 p.163,ln.2–p.166,ln.7. Everyone seemed to agree with the potential juror who offered this:

I would say that the color of your skin shouldn't matter, you know. Doesn't matter if you're white, black, Asian, African American. It doesn't matter. We're all human beings[.]

TrialTr.V1 p.164,ln.16–p.165,ln.2. And cautionary jury instructions on implicit bias were given repeatedly throughout the trial. *See* TrialTr.V1 p.182,ln.24–p.183,ln.4; Jury Instr. 11A; App. 33.

Again, this is not part of the *Duren* analysis. But the State is troubled by the suggestion that jury trials become inherently unfair whenever race-neutral random selection of potential jurors creates a jury panel that does not include a person from this specific segment of the population (which is often a small segment, and one that may include fewer eligible jurors than raw census figures would suggest). If Lilly can construct a meritorious *Duren* claim, he should prevail—but the racial composition of this pool/panel/jury does not establish any *inherent* unfairness. And even the research Lilly cites via *Plain* shows that all-white juries *can* deliver outcomes that are comparable to diverse juries under circumstances like these, when they confront racial issues and guard against implicit bias throughout the trial. *See* Anwar et al., *The Impact of Jury Race*, 127 Q.J. ECON. at 1041 n.41; *see also* Sommers & Ellsworth, 7 PSYCHOL. PUB. POL'Y & L. at 220–25. Lilly deserved a fair trial, and there is no reason to believe that he did not receive one. Therefore, this Court should reject Lilly's challenge.

II. The Evidence Was Sufficient to Support Conviction.

Preservation of Error

Error was preserved to challenge the State's proof of identity and proof of participation. *See* TrialTr.V2 p.54,ln.1–p.56,ln.11.

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